Questions under Procedure Rule 11.2 for Council

Q1. Question from Councillor M Wilcox to the Cabinet Member for Leisure and Parks

Would the Cabinet Member agree with me that given both Lichfield District Council and the County Council have as one of their priorities the encouragement of Health & Wellbeing of its residents across the whole District, the decision to bring back responsibility of running Burntwood Leisure Centre to this Council is another positive step in supporting this policy?

And will he also agree that the additional facilities that are planned will only enhance the offer we have for our residents?

Response from the Cabinet Member for Leisure and Parks

I absolutely agree with Cllr Wilcox; the decision to bring in-house the running of Burntwood and the Friary Leisure Centres, along with the decision by Full Council in February to invest £10m in a new centre at Stychbrook Park, to replace the ageing one at the Friary, are positive steps in supporting the health and wellbeing of residents in the district. The Chief Medical Officer recommends daily physical activity levels for children, young people and adults, to support their physical and mental health. The latest Sport England statistics for our district (2019/20 - the survey has not been redone since Covid) suggest that while we do well in our district compared to other parts of the country, 35% of adults are not active for the recommended 150 minutes a week, and around 60% of children and young people do not achieve the 60+ minutes a day recommended.

Our ambition in bringing leisure services back under our control is to help get 'More People, More Active, More Often'. The further investment of approximately £1.5m in new sports and leisure facilities we are introducing this year and next, which include a Climbing Wall, new Soft Play and resurfaced tennis / netball courts in Burntwood, the introduction of new competitive sports, Padel, Obstacle Course Racing, additional 3G pitches, and Adventure Golf, to replace the mini golf we currently offer, will certainly support that ambition. We hope these investments will inspire more people to become happier and healthier through increased participation.

We believe taking back control will encourage more people to use our facilities old and new, and associated facilities across the district. We have invested significantly in Burntwood Leisure Centre over the last few weeks to make it a better, warmer, and cleaner environment for users, and have discounted membership and joining fees for the next few months to encourage a greater take up"

Q2. Question from Councillor Robertson to the Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

I thank you for publishing the communications between you and officers in relation to the repeated delays around the data link between the CCTV on Dimbles Lane and the control room in the City Centre. In these communications it is clear that on 8th February you offered your apologies to me about "the length of time it has taken to

action" but at Council on 28th February you refused to apologise to the community which had been let down. Can you explain why?

Response from the Cabinet Member for Community Engagement

May I thank Cllr Robertson for his question; however, I must remind the councillor that whilst the component to link the CCTV to the control room was not active due to the delay in being supplied, the CCTV was recording and could be reviewed by the police on request.

During this delay I can assure Cllr Robertson that officers were chasing the supplier on regular basis, and I thank them for their efforts in obtaining an alternative supply, once it was established the supply was further delayed.

May I also remind Cllr Robertson, that not all our District is covered by CCTV but where it is, I am sure residents feel secure in knowing that their area is fortunate to have such coverage. By investing in additional cameras located around the shopping area of Dimbles Lane, I believe this will act as a deterrent to any activities that may occur and allow residents to go about their business without being intimidated by any wrongdoing. This would also apply to those residents living in the immediate vicinity and of course I would apologise to those residents who may have felt let down by the delay caused by external suppliers. As a priority the Council continues to ensure our communities are safe and work closely with our partners to meet this objective.

Q3. Question from Councillor Robertson to the Leader of the Council

In 2019 as people went to the polls to elect their representatives for the coming 4 years, the leadership of the Council was well aware of the ongoing discussions about the academisation of Friary School and the potential knock-on effect to Friary Grange Leisure Centre. Despite knowledge of this no publicity was made about the threat to Lichfield's public leisure centre before people went to the polls, and the decision about the future of the facility kicked down the road until after the elections which then led the cabinet to make a disastrous decision to close the centre, before being forced into a Uturn in light of a backlash in the community. Can you give an assurance to voters that no such skeletons are being kept in the closet ahead of these elections?

Response from the Leader of the Council

Since I became leader in May 2019, I have given a firm commitment to transparency at Lichfield District Council. While I wasn't part of the leadership team in the run up to the 2019 elections and therefore cannot speak on their behalf I do note that Labour Group members were alerted to discussions around the future viability of Friary Grange Leisure Centre at the Leisure Parks & Waste O&S Committee held in March 2019. The minutes record that:

"Friary Grange Leisure Centre was discussed further and it was noted that there had been further meetings with Staffordshire County Council and the school as it is move to academy status. It was reported that a business case as to whether there should be future investment was being worked on and would be reported as soon as possible. It was asked what Freedom's position would be and if the centre would be viable if there was no capital investment in the pool and it was reported that it was a known risk and Freedom were supporting the Council to make informed decisions."

Given that members of the Labour Group were party to this information, discussed in a public forum with minutes then published, I find your characterisation of this as a "skeleton" rather crass and potentially misleading.

I'm very proud that the Conservative Group backed investing £695,000 pounds into refurbishing Friary Grange Leisure Centre, which was completed ahead of time and under-budget, during COVID-19 restrictions. I'm even prouder that we have allocated £10m for a brand new leisure centre in Cllr Robertson's current ward, and that we have brought our leisure provision back in-house to provide our residents with 2 top class leisure centres. He has my guarantee that we will continue our good work if we are successful in the upcoming elections.

Q4. Question from Councillor A Yeates to the Leader of the Council

What do you feel the Conservative run council has achieved during this current term in control of Lichfield District Council?

Response from the Leader of the Council

I am incredibly proud of our achievements over the last 4 years, with too many to mention in this written answer.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, we were at the forefront of the response, implementing initiatives such as the co-op food delivery scheme and ensuring that grants were distributed quickly to those businesses in need.

We've supported our communities through addressing homelessness with our Housing First approach, our Community Lottery, Councillor Grants, looking to speed up DFG's by bringing the service back in-house and supporting a wide range of voluntary organisations.

We have made significant progress on several major projects that will benefit the entire district, including the approval of investments for a cinema and leisure centre, which are both due to open next year.

The last 18 months has seen a real culture change at Lichfield District Council, spearheaded by our new CEO and I'm rightly proud of that appointment. Our staff have expressed increased confidence in their managerial leaders and in the Cabinet, and are more satisfied with LDC as an employer, which I believe is a strong testament to the positive culture that is emerging within the council, and will stand us in good stead for the future.

Q5. Question from Councillor Norman to the Cabinet Member for Housing, Ecology and Climate Change

Can the Cabinet member responsible for the Climate Change policy confirm that she has read the Internal Auditor's Report on the Council's Climate Change Policy which found that the Action Plan did not outline the governance and oversight structures for the Action Plan; that two of the three officers that actions had been allocated to no longer worked at the Council and that of the 17 actions in the Action Plan, 10 had been allocated to these officers; that the Organisational Carbon Plan's Action Plan was not monitored through the Council's governance structures to assess whether the actions

have been implemented and concluded that the Action Plan was not a live document that supports the Council's move towards net-zero carbon emissions?

Response from the Cabinet Member for Housing, Ecology and Climate Change

Yes thank you, I have read the Internal Auditor's report. I had raised with officers in advance that LDC's own Organisational Carbon Reduction Plan needed revising due to staff leaving, the reorganisation of LDC operating structures and implementing the Being a Better Council programme. I am pleased to report we are in the process of putting in place best practice in relation to the effective management of risk, the delivery of good governance and the attainment of management objectives to be achieved.

The Leader of LDC, Cllr Pullen and myself as the Cabinet Member for Ecology and Climate change, together with the Cabinet, fully support our Chief Executive in setting an ambitious target of the council itself becoming carbon neutral by 2035 within its Organisational Carbon Reduction Plan.

We have a moral duty to protect our planet for future generations. While we were slow to generate momentum immediately following the Council declaring a Climate Emergency we are now working tirelessly to drive forwards the actions needed to get our district carbon neutral by 2050 while growing our local economy.

We have a dedicated manager for this activity, along with the Organisational Carbon Reduction Plan to support our becoming a carbon neutral organisation, and our Lichfield district 2050 Strategy, which is being launched in the summer. This will set out how we believe we can hit the 2050 target through working with our residents and partners.

Lichfield District Council is a member of the newly formed Staffordshire Sustainability Board (SSB) alongside 8 other Staffordshire authorities. The SSB is an active and transparent collaborative forum that works to ensure Staffordshire is net carbon zero by at least 2050 or before.

We are taking initiatives across the district and with community groups. Please see our climate change resources hub at https://www.Llchfield.gov.uk/climatechange

Together with Staffordshire Wildlife, our nationally recognised Ecology and Climate Change Manager has led the way in LDC actioning a Nature Recovery Declaration.

We were the first council in the country to make a policy demanding that all development must deliver a 20 per cent net gain to biodiversity as part of seeking planning permission. If developers cannot deliver that net gain on site, they either create or enhance areas of habitat elsewhere in the district or provide the council with a suitable financial contribution for us to deliver that habitat on their behalf. Other examples of our proactive work include promoting a 'No Mow May initiative' where areas have been left uncut so that grasses and wildflowers can thrive and provide food for hungry pollinating insects and we are part of the pioneering Purple Horizons nature recovery project whose work restores heathland to create sustainable habitats for wildlife and carbon storage while making these areas more accessible for residents, improving both mental and physical health.

All these initiatives and many more are contributing to our collective efforts to tackle climate change.

Q6. Question from Councillor Norman to the Leader of the Council

Like many district councils we have publicised the need for voters to take photo ID with them when they come to vote on May the 4th, even though, as he confirmed to me in December there was no record held by this council of a case of personation. With less than a week left for residents to apply can he give me the latest figure for applications received by Lichfield District Council for the voter authority certificate for those who do not have an acceptable form of photo ID?

Response from the Leader of the Council

We have received 95 Voter Authority Certificate applications to date.

Q7 Question from Councillor Norman to the Cabinet Member for Leisure and Parks

There have been a number of changes to Burntwood Leisure Centre, including a "Deep Clean", since the contract with Freedom Leisure failed and the Council was forced to take the facility back in-house on the 1st of April. Can he explain why the contract was not properly supervised up to that point?

Response from the Cabinet Member for Leisure and Parks

Freedom Leisure was awarded the contract to run our leisure centres after a fair, thorough and detailed competitive tendering process. Outsourcing the centres when we did in 2018 was the right decision and best option for our leisure provision at that time. The contract has provided the council with significant savings of £1,365,083 between 2017/18 and 2021/22 which has enabled the council to invest £2 million in improving the offer for users, including refurbishing Friary Grange and a new aerobics studio and larger gym at our Burntwood centre.

However, the last couple of years have been difficult for the leisure industry, as it has been for other sectors of the economy. That said, we have watched the way Freedom Leisure reacted to Covid, economic pressures and more recently the impact of the war in Ukraine on energy pricing and believe their chosen response significantly negatively impacted the financial viability of the centres. Their commercial choices, to protect the bottom line, led to a decline in the cleanliness, condition and environment of the centres, which in turn has led to a reduction in the number of users of the centres.

This is why over the last six months we have proactively sought Freedom Leisure's exit from the contract, along with a substantial £750,000 fee in settlement from them. We believe a community focussed response, instead of a purely financial one, will result in more users across the centres and new facilities we are developing and an overall more active population. We are investing in improving the environment and offer in Burntwood, building a brand new centre for Lichfield and extending sports and leisure facilities in the district. We are also reducing pricing to make the facilities more financially accessible to residents. All as part of that community focussed response.